# **RECEIVED**

### STATE OF WISCONSIN 04-01-2014

### COURT OF APPEALS

# CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT III

Case No. 2014 AP 178

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent

v.

JOSEPH T. TREPANIER,

Defendant-Appellant

On appeal from the Circuit Court for Sawyer County,

The Honorable Gerald L. Wright, presiding

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT JOSEPH T. TREPANIER

Frederick A. Bechtold State bar number 1088631 490 Colby Street Taylors Falls, MN 55084 (651) 465-0463

Attorney for the Defendant-Appellant

# I.

III.	Statement of issues presented for review.
IV.	Statement of the facts and case.
V.	Statement on oral argument and publication.
VI.	Argument
A	The proper standard of review for this case is de novo
В	Section 973.155(1)(a), Wis. Stats., does not authorize the application of sentence credit to a civil commitment, therefore Mr. Trepanier's sentence credit should have been applied to his burglary sentence
C	The trial court's reliance on <i>State v. Way</i> in denying the defendant sentence credit was misplaced
	1. State v. Way was not a sentence credit case
	2. § 973.155(1)(a), Wis. Stats., does not authorize the award of sentence credit to civil commitments
	3. Section 973.07, Wis. Stats., cannot be interpreted to authorize the application of sentence credit to civil commitment, because the application of sentence credit is restricted by statute and common law to the terms of § 973.155(1)(a), Wis. Stats.,
	4. The practical considerations raised in <i>State v. Way</i> are not the same in a sentence credit situation as they are in concurrent v. consecutive commitment situation; the only purpose served in denying Mr. Trepanier's sentence credit would be punitive, not coercive
D	Awarding sentence credit to Mr. Trepanier would not be dual credit for consecutive sentences as prohibited by <i>State v. Boettcher</i>
Е	. A civil commitment under § Section 973.07, Wis. Stats., is not an intervening sentence as per the <i>State v. Beets</i> scenario
VII.	. Conclusion2
VII	I. Certifications2

# II. Table of Authorities.

# Cases

Byrd v. State, 65 Wis.2d 415, 222 N.W.2d 696 (Wis., 1974)		
Cheney v. State, 44 Wis.2d 454, 171 N.W.2d 339 (Wis., 1969)		
Klimas v. State, 75 Wis.2d 244, 249, 249 N.W.2d 285, 288 (Wis., 1977)		
State ex rel. Pedersen v. Blessinger, 56 Wis.2d 286, 201 N.W.2d 778 (Wis. 1972)		
State v. Beets, 124 Wis.2d 372, 369 N.W.2d 382 (Wis., 1985)		
State v. Boettcher, 144 Wis.2d 86, 423 N.W.2d 533 (Wis., 1988)		
State v. Dentici, 251 Wis.2d 436, 643 N.W.2d 180 (Wis. App. 2002)		
State v. Gilbert, 115 Wis.2d 371, 340 N.W.2d 511 (1983)		
State v. Hintz, 300 Wis. 2d 583, 731 N.W.2d 646 (Wis. App., 2007)9		
State v. Rohl, 160 Wis.2d 325, 466 N.W.2d 208(Wis. App., 1991)		
State v. Tuescher, 226 Wis.2d 465, 595 N.W.2d 443 (Wis. App., 1999)		
State v. Way, 113 Wis.2d 82, 334 N.W.2d 918 (Wis. App., 1983)		
Statutes		
§ 943.10(1m)(a), Wis. Stats		
§ 973.07, Wis. Stats		
§ 973.15(2), Wis. Stats., (1983)		
§ 973.155(1)(a), Wis. Stats		

# **Other Authorities**

# III. Statement of issue presented for review.

The sole issue presented in this appeal is whether a defendant who cannot post cash bail is entitled to sentence credit for the time he spent in jail prior to sentencing, when during the same period he was also under custody for a civil commitment for unpaid fines, and was unable to meet the monetary purge condition of that commitment order? The trial court answered this question in the negative, and it is that decision which the defendant seeks to have reviewed.

#### IV. Statement of the facts and case.

On Sunday, November 11, 2012, Joseph T. Trepanier was arrested on the charge of burglary and held in custody at the Sawyer County Jail. (R.1:2). Mr. Trepanier would remain in the Sawyer County Jail from the date of his arrest through to the date of his sentencing on April 30, 2013. (R.30:8-9; Appx. pages 12-13). Bail was set on Monday, November 12, 2012, at Five Hundred Dollars (\$500.00) cash. (R.1:1).

Mr. Trepanier, being unable to raise the cash bail, requested and received a bond modification hearing which was held on November 20, 2012. (R.24:1). Through counsel, Mr. Trepanier requested a signature bond, noting that Mr. Trepanier was unemployed, had no significant assets, and only Twenty Dollars (\$20.00) in his canteen account. (R.24:2). The State argued that the bail was "if anything it's probably too low," noting the seriousness of the charges. (R.24:3-4). The trial court, the Honorable Gerald L. Wright presiding, recollected that there was "some period of time where Mr. Trepanier was absconding from a probation status and that there were lots of warrants outstanding on him." (R.24:4). Mr. Trepanier acknowledged that this was accurate, and based on the history of absconding while on probation the trial court left the bail set at Five Hundred Dollars (\$500.00). (R.24:4-5). The trial court did offer, however, that it would consider lowering the cash bail amount if Mr. Trepanier could come up with somebody who would cosign a signature bond. (R.24:5).

The following day, November 21, 2012, another hearing was held in a separate branch regarding a contempt commitment for unpaid fines imposed upon Mr. Trepanier in a prior case, namely, Sawyer County Case number 10CM56. (R.31:4; Appx. page 5). At that hearing Mr. Trepanier was given purge conditions which required Mr. Trepanier to pay One Thousand Dollars (\$1,000.00) toward his unpaid fines, or serve six months in jail. (R.31:4; Appx. page 5).

On February 12, 2013, a second bond modification was held, and the defendant requested that the trial court modify the cash bail to a signature bond, or at least lower the cash portion of the bail. (R.27:3). As guarantor to the signature bond Mr. Trepanier offered his mother as a cosigner. (R.27:3). Mrs. Trepanier had very limited financial means and the Court questioned her ability to pay a signature bond if Mr. Trepanier were to abscond. (R.27:4-5). The request for bond modification was therefore denied. (R.27:5). There was a brief discussion of Mr. Trepanier's civil commitment at this hearing; however, it does not appear to have influenced the trial court's decision. (R.27:4).

A plea hearing was subsequently held on February 26, 2013. (R.29:1). At the plea hearing the defendant plead no contest to count 1, burglary of a building or dwelling. (R.29:9). Count 2, criminal damage to property, was dismissed by the state but read-in, and an uncharged incident on November 11, 2012 was read-

obtaining any release from custody.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The trial court may have done Mr. Trepanier a bit of a favor in denying the signature bond. If Mr. Trepanier could not raise cash bail, it is difficult to see how he would have raised the One Thousand Dollars (\$1,000.00) purge condition on the commitment while he was on signature bond. That being the case he may well have forfeited his claim to sentence credit without any

in as well. (R.29:10). The trial court accepted Mr. Trepanier's plea of no contest and convicted him of burglary of a building or dwelling in violation of § 943.10(1m)(a), Wis. Stats., and ordered the preparation of a presentence investigation report. (R.29:9-10). Under the terms of the negotiated plea, both parties were free to argue at sentencing. (R.29:2). At the conclusion of the hearing, Mr. Trepanier's bail was revoked, the trial court noting that "it's probably not relevant since he hasn't been able to post bail." (R.29:10).

Sentencing was held on April 30, 2013. (R.30:1). Mr. Trepanier was sentenced to twelve years in the Wisconsin State Prison consisting of six years initial confinement followed by six years of extended supervision. (R.30:15). Said sentence, however, while imposed was also stayed, and Mr. Trepanier was placed on six years probation with one year of conditional time in the Sawyer County Jail. (R.30:15). This portion of the sentence is not contested by Mr. Trepanier.

Confusion arose at the sentencing hearing regarding the amount of sentence credit Mr. Trepanier was due. Mr. Trepanier requested 171 days of sentence credit, and initially the State appeared to agree with that amount. (R.30:8-9; Appx. pages 12-13). Later in the hearing, however, it was brought to the trial court's attention that Mr. Trepanier had been sitting on a civil commitment for unpaid fines. (R.30:12; Appx. page 14). Initially the defendant's counsel appears to have agreed that Mr. Trepanier would be owed only 10 days of sentence credit. (R.30:12; Appx. page 14). The trial court proceeded to grant 10 days sentence

credit. (R.30:15). But then, toward the end of the hearing, the State expressed concern whether the amount of sentence credit was correct, stating "the only thing I'm still confused on is the credit. I'm not sure that the fact that he is sitting for whatever Deputy Sajdera said it was, I'm not sure that stops him from getting credit on this one because I believe he was sitting on a cash bond." (R.30:19; Appx. page 15). Mr. Trepanier through counsel asked for whatever credit is allowed by law. (R.30:19-20; Appx. pages 15-16). The trial court then ruled that "this sentence is consecutive to any period of detention that he has been ordered previously as a contempt of court. So he has only 10 days credit in this matter." (R.30:20; Appx. page 16)

Following the sentencing hearing, Mr. Trepanier filed a motion for sentence credit. (R.13). The State replied that it could not make a proper response to that motion without a transcript of the April 30, 2013, sentencing hearing. (R.14). Thereafter, Mr. Trepanier filed an amended motion for sentence credit with portions of the transcript of the April 30, 2013, sentencing hearing attached. (R.15; Appx. pages 8-16).

The hearing on Mr. Trepanier's motion for sentence credit was held on August 6, 2013. (R.31:1; Appx. page 2). Again, Mr. Trepanier requested 171 days of sentence credit. (R. 15:1; Appx. page 8). Again, the trial court denied the request. (R.16; Appx. page 1). In denying the requested sentence credit the trial court relied heavily on the case of *State v. Way*, 113 Wis.2d 82, 334 N.W.2d 918

(Wis. App., 1983). It explained it reasoning as follows:

"State v. Way" is very informative. [two sentences omitted]... "State v. Way" includes this statement: The obvious purpose of a sentence providing an alternative penalty of six months in jail if the original fine is not paid is to prompt or coerce the defendant to pay the fine. This being the intended purpose a Court by necessity must have the authority to impose a commitment consecutive to the jail time provision. A commitment must be separate from and in addition to any other periods of incarceration the person is required to serve in order to the able the commitment to serve it's prompting or coercive purpose. Because of that if I were to grant-- because of that I'm going to deny Mr. Trepanier's motion. To give him credit for or to credit his time in custody against both the commitment order and the conditional jail time in this matter would completely obliterate the whole purpose of the commitment order. The purpose of the commitment order is not to punish Mr. Trepanier. The purpose of the commitment order is to coerce payment. Motion denied.

(R.31:2-3; Appx. pages 3-4) (emphasis added).

Mr. Trepanier filed his notice of intent to pursue postdisposition relief on August 15, 2013, (R.19), and subsequently filed his notice of appeal on January 17, 2014. The sole issue presented for appeal is the proper amount of sentence credit Mr. Trepanier is due. (R.20).

# V. Statement on oral argument and publication.

The issue of whether a defendant should receive sentence credit when he or she was simultaneously in custody under a civil commitment for unpaid fines is an issue which will undoubtedly confront trial courts in the future. This court will benefit from oral argument in this case. This court's decision should be published; guidance on this issue is needed and would further the efficient administration of justice in future cases with similar fact patterns.

#### VI. Argument.

#### A. The proper standard of review for this case is *de novo*.

Numerous cases have held that the application of § 973.155(1)(a), Wis. Stats., to undisputed facts is a question of law entitled to *de novo* review. *State v. Dentici*, 251 Wis.2d 436, ¶ 4, 643 N.W.2d 180 (Wis. App. 2002); *State v. Tuescher*, 226 Wis.2d 465, 595 N.W.2d 443, 445 (Wis. App., 1999); *State v. Rohl*, 160 Wis.2d 325, 329, 466 N.W.2d 208, 210 (Wis. App., 1991).

The essential facts in this case are indisputable. From the date of arrest until the date of sentencing, Mr. Trepanier was held in custody at the Sawyer County Jail for a period of 171 days. (R.30:8-9; Appx. pages 12-13). During this period Mr. Trepanier was unable to raise Five Hundred Dollars (\$500.00) for his cash bail. (R.29:10). From ten days after his arrest until the date of sentencing, Mr. Trepanier was also subject to a civil commitment for failure to pay fines with purge conditions requiring Mr. Trepanier to pay One Thousand Dollars (\$1,000.00) toward his unpaid fines, or serve six months in jail. (R.31:4; Appx. page 5). There are only two possible answers for the correct sentence credit, 10 days or 171 days. The question to be settled is solely a question of law, namely, what was the legal effect on sentence credit of the civil commitment for failure to pay fines?

B. Section 973.155(1)(a), Wis. Stats., does not authorize the application of sentence credit to a civil commitment, therefore Mr. Trepanier's sentence credit should have been applied to his burglary sentence.

Section 973.155(1)(a), Wis. Stats., grants sentence credit for each day in custody regardless of the basis for confinement as long as it is connected to the offense for which the sentence is imposed. *State v. Gilbert*, 115 Wis.2d 371, 377, 340 N.W.2d 511, 515 (1983).

The offense for which the defendant is sentenced need not be the sole basis for custody; so long as that custody was at least in part due to the conduct that resulted in the conviction, the defendant should receive sentence credit. *State v. Hintz*, 300 Wis. 2d 583, 731 N.W.2d 646 (Wis. App., 2007) (Hintz was entitled to sentence credit for the time he was in custody on an extended supervision hold because the hold was at least in part due to the course of conduct that resulted in his new conviction).

The resolution of this case hinges on whether sentence credit under § 973.155(1)(a), Wis. Stats., can be applied to a consecutive civil commitment. Section 973.155(1)(a), Wis. Stats., provides as follows:

A convicted offender shall be given credit toward the service of his or her sentence for all days spent in custody in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed. As used in this subsection, "actual days spent in custody" includes, without limitation by enumeration, confinement related to an offense for which the offender is ultimately sentenced, or for any other sentence arising out of the same course of conduct, which occurs:

- 1. While the offender is awaiting trial;
- 2. While the offender is being tried; and
- 3. While the offender is awaiting imposition of sentence after trial.

By its terms § 973.155(1)(a), Wis. Stats., requires that credit be given toward "the service of his or her *sentence*" for the "conduct for which *sentence* was imposed." *Id.* It further defines the confinement requiring credit as "related to an offense for which the offender is ultimately *sentenced*, or for any other *sentence* arising out of the same course of conduct." *Id.* 

Mr. Trepanier's § 973.07, Wis. Stats., incarceration was a civil commitment. A commitment is not a sentence. *State v. Way*, 113 Wis.2d at 86, 334 N.W.2d at 920. Section 973.155(1)(a), Wis. Stats., does not provide for sentence credit against civil commitments. Rather, the statute directs the granting of "sentence" credit to "sentences." Consequently, because Mr. Trepanier's civil commitment was not a sentence; the sentence credit which Mr. Trepanier accrued should not have been applied to that commitment. Rather the credit should have been applied to a sentence. There is only one sentence here, the sentence resulting from the burglary conviction, and it is to that solitary sentence that the sentence credit should have been applied.

- C. The trial court's reliance on *State v. Way* in denying the defendant sentence credit was misplaced.
- 1. State v. Way was not a sentence credit case.

The trial court in its decision to deny Mr. Trepanier 171 days sentence credit placed great weight on the decision rendered in *State v. Way*. (R.31:2-3; Appx. pages 3-4). *State v. Way*, however, was not a sentence credit case and the issue never arose in the decision.

The question presented in *State v. Way* was whether the trial court had jurisdiction to order that a civil commitment for failure to pay a fine be served consecutive to a criminal sentence (in that case, battery to a peace officer), and further to order that a criminal sentence for escape be served consecutive to the civil commitment. *State v. Way*, supra. The court in *State v. Way* held that such authority does exist under § 973.07, Wis. Stats. *Id.* Though the exact language of § 973.07, Wis. Stat., has changed somewhat since *State v. Way*, the substance of the statute has not. The statute currently provides:

If the fine, plus costs, fees, and surcharges imposed under ch. 814, are not paid or community service work under s. 943.017 (3) is not completed as required by the sentence, the defendant may be committed to the county jail until the fine, costs, fees, and surcharges are paid or discharged, or the community service work under s. 943.017 (3) is completed, for a period fixed by the court not to exceed 6 months.

Central to the decision in *State v. Way* was the understanding that the purpose of the statute was "coercive" rather than punitive. *State v. Way*, 113 Wis.2d at 86, 334 N.W.2d at 920. "A commitment must be separate from and in addition to any other periods of incarceration the person is required to serve in order to enable the commitment to serve its prompting or coercive purpose." *Id*.

In practical terms for Mr. Trepanier, a sentence consecutive to his commitment should have meant that he would not begin serving his sentence for the burglary until May 20, 2013 (i.e. 180 days after the order of commitment on November 21, 2013), unless, of course, he met his purge condition of paying One Thousand Dollars (\$1,000.00) towards his unpaid fines.

Mr. Trepanier has never contested that the trial court could make his sentence separate and consecutive to his commitment. (R.31:3; Appx. page 4). What the defendant does contest is the trial court's taking the additional step of applying his sentence credit, which he had accrued while sitting on a cash bail in his burglary case, to the civil commitment, rather than to the criminal sentence for burglary. For it is evident that this is how the trial court understood it decision:

To give him [Mr. Trepanier] credit for or to credit his time in custody against both the commitment order and the conditional jail time in this matter would completely obliterate the whole purpose of the commitment order.

... when Mr. Trepanier is being held on the commitment order his time is either going to be attributed to the commitment order or to this conditional jail time. It is not going to be attributed to both. ...

(R.31:2-3; Appx. pages 3-4). In denying Mr. Trepanier 161 days of sentence credit on his sentence for the burglary conviction, the trial court was of the belief that it had the authority to apply that sentence credit to a civil commitment. This is an action that *State v. Way* never addressed and never condoned.

# 2. § 973.155(1)(a), Wis. Stats., does not authorize the award of sentence credit to civil commitments.

As stated above, in *State v. Way* the court found that there was authority under § 973.07, Wis. Stats. to impose a civil commitment for unpaid fines consecutive to a criminal sentence. *State v. Way*, 113 Wis.2d at 87, 334 N.W.2d at 920. It is interesting to note, however, that the court did not find that this authority existed under § 973.15(2), Wis. Stats., (1983). At that time § 973.15(2), Wis.

Stats., (1983), provided:

The court may impose as many sentences as there are convictions and may provide that any such sentence be concurrent or that it shall commence at the expiration of any other sentence. If the convicted offender is then serving a sentence or is subject to parole revocation

The court agreed with Mr. Way that a commitment is not a sentence, and that "therefore sec. 973.15(2), which speaks only of only of concurrent and consecutive sentences, cannot be deemed as authority for an ordinary commitment [being made] consecutive to a sentence." *State v. Way*, 113 Wis.2d at 87, 334 N.W.2d at 920.

Similarly, § 973.155(1)(a), Wis. Stats., does not speak of commitments, but rather, only of "sentences." Consequently, § 973.155(1)(a), Wis. Stats., cannot be deemed as authority for the application of "sentence credit" to a civil commitment because the statute only speaks of "sentences". Any authority for applying sentence credit to a civil commitment would have to found somewhere other than § 973.155(1)(a), Wis. Stats.

3. Section 973.07, Wis. Stats., cannot be interpreted to authorize the application of sentence credit to a civil commitment, because the application of sentence credit is restricted by statute and common law to the terms of § 973.155(1)(a), Wis. Stats., .

Ultimately, the court in *State v. Way* found that authority for making commitments consecutive to sentences was implied under § 973.07, Wis. Stats.. Initially, it should be observed that there is nothing in § 973.07, Wis. Stats., that expressly authorizes the application of sentence credit to a civil commitment; any such authority would have to be implied.

Significantly, in reaching its decision the court in *State v. Way* found that there were "no other statutes or case law that [would] limit the authority of a sentencing court to impose a commitment consecutive to another term of incarceration." *State v. Way*, 113 Wis.2d at 87, 334 N.W.2d at 920. It was only in the absence of such restrictions that the court was willing to find such authority. *Id.* That is not the case here, however, the award of sentence credit is in fact restricted by both statute and the common law.

Originally, the rule was that there is no credit for time served in jail prior to sentencing, absent a statute providing for such sentence credit. See, 77 ALR 3<sup>rd</sup> 182, *Right to Credit for Time Spent in Custody Prior to Trial or Sentencing*, § 3 (Appx. pages 17-25); and *Cheney v. State*, 44 Wis.2d 454, 171 N.W.2d 339 (Wis., 1969)( "We conclude that it is a matter of proper legislative consideration to adopt or not a rule giving credit for time spent in jail prior to sentencing') *overruled in part by Byrd v. State*, 65 Wis.2d 415, 222 N.W.2d 696 (Wis., 1974)(holding that sentence credit must be given when the combined sentence and pre-sentence custody exceeds the maximum sentence for the crime). This rule came under increasing scrutiny, first in *Byrd*, then in *Klimas v. State*, 75 Wis.2d 244, 249, 249 N.W.2d 285, 288 (Wis., 1977), where the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that "as a matter of equal protection, there be credit required for all pre-trial and presentence confinement that results from the indigency of the defendant."

In its ruling the *Klimas* court, in a gesture of deference to the legislative branch, invited the Wisconsin legislature to enact legislation addressing the issue

of credit for pre-trial and pre-sentence confinement. *Id*. That invitation was taken up by the Wisconsin legislature with the adoption of § 973.155(1)(a), Wis. Stats., which expanded the scope of sentence credit to include all defendants awaiting trial or sentencing in custody, not just indigent defendants. This feature of the sentence credit statute was recommended, but not mandated, by the *Klimas* court:

It should be noted that the federal system, by legislation and by rule requires that credit be given for 'any days spent in custody' for whatever reason. We do not go that far, and in this opinion mandate only that where the custody is the result of indigency must credit be given as a constitutional matter. The federal treatment of the problem of presentence confinement has much to recommend it. It is simple and it is just. All pre-sentence confinement, whether because of inability to make bail, unwillingness to be released on bail, or custody for examination, are treated alike and are administratively, not judicially, credited toward satisfaction of the sentence.

Klimas, 75 Wis.2d at 251-52, 249 N.W.2d at 289. (emphasis added). Klimas was not a complete rejection of the common law rule articulated in *Cheney*, but rather a limited rejection of the common law rule in cases "where the custody is the result of indigency." *Id.* Absent a statute, or the existence of *Klimas*/equal protection concerns resulting from the indigency of the defendant, the common law rule against credit for pre-trial and pre-sentence confinement presumably still applies. Or to put it another way, sentence credit is purely a creature of either the equal protection clause or § 973.155(1)(a), Wis. Stats.; it has no other existence in law. These are only two sources of authority for the award of pre-sentence credit in the State of Wisconsin.

It would, of course, be ludicrous to argue that the equal protection clause provides the authority for taking away Mr. Trepanier's sentence credit, as the whole point of the equal protection clause, as interpreted by *Klimas*, is to protect indigent persons from the deprivation of liberty by the State; not to authorize the State to deprive indigent persons of their liberty. And as previously argued § 973.155(1)(a), Wis. Stats., by its terms restricts the award of sentence credit only to "sentences." Section 973.155(1)(a), Wis. Stats., can no more be said to authorize the allocation of sentence credit to civil commitments, than § 973.15(2), Wis. Stats., could be said to authorize commitments consecutive to sentences. See, argument C.2. supra., and *State v. Way*, 113 Wis.2d at 87, 334 N.W.2d at 920.

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