RECEIVED 05-02-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEAL OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2014AP178-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOSEPH T. TREPANIER,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR SAWYER COUNTY, HONORABLE GERALD L. WRIGHT, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN **Attorney General**

DANIEL J. O'BRIEN **Assistant Attorney General** State Bar #1018324

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL **COURT HAD** THE **AUTHORITY** TO **IMPOSE** THE BURGLARY **SENTENCE** CONSE-CUTIVE TO THE CIVIL CONTEMPT COMMITMENT AND, IN DOING SO, PROPERLY REFUSED TO **GIVE** TREPANIER "DOUBLE CREDIT" FOR DAYS OF TIME SERVED IN CUSTODY AGAINST BOTH THE CIVIL COMMITMENT AND THE UNRELATED CONSECUTIVE **BURGLARY** SEN-TENCE.

Trepanier insists that he is entitled to double credit for 171 days served in custody against both a civil commitment and an unrelated burglary sentence imposed consecutive to that commitment. His argument flies in the face of clearly established Wisconsin statutory and case law.

Trepanier's civil contempt commitment to jail ended on May 20, 2013, six months after it was imposed on November 21, 2012. The burglary sentence was imposed and stayed on April 30, 2013, and ordered to run consecutive to the time served on the civil commitment. This means that service of the one-year jail term imposed as a condition of probation on the burglary sentence began on May 20, 2013, after the civil commitment ended. Trepanier was entitled to credit against his burglary sentence for only the ten days between his arrest for burglary on November 11, 2012, and the civil commitment hearing on November 21, 2012, that resulted in the order sending him to jail for contempt. He most certainly was not entitled to "windfall" credit against his burglary sentence for an additional 171 days already served in jail for the unrelated civil contempt commitment.

A. The applicable law and standard for review.

The determination of sentence credit is a question of law involving the application of the provisions of Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1) to the facts. It is reviewed by this court *de novo. State v. Carter,* 2007 WI App 255, ¶ 8, 306 Wis. 2d 450, 743 N.W.2d 700; *State v. Tuescher,* 226 Wis. 2d 465, 468, 595 N.W.2d 443 (Ct. App. 1999).

The determination of sentence credit is governed by Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1), which provides:

973.155 Sentence credit. (1) (a) A convicted offender shall be given credit toward the service of his or her sentence for all days spent in custody in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed. As used in this subsection, "actual days spent in custody" includes, without limitation by enumeration, confinement related to an offense for which the offender is ultimately sentenced, or for any other sentence arising out of the same course of conduct, which occurs:

- 1. While the offender is awaiting trial;
- 2. While the offender is being tried; and
- 3. While the offender is awaiting imposition of sentence after trial.
- (b) The categories in par. (a) include custody of the convicted offender which is in whole or in part the result of a probation, extended supervision or parole hold under s. 302.113 (8m), 302.114 (8m), 304.06 (3), or 973.10 (2) placed upon the person for the same course of conduct as that resulting in the new conviction.

Courts are bound by the statutes in calculating sentence credit, and can only grant such credit as the legislature has seen fit to award. *State v. Beets*, 124 Wis. 2d 372, 382, 369 N.W.2d 382 (1985).

For sentence credit to be awarded under § 973.155, two requirements must be satisfied: (1) the defendant must

have been "in custody" for the period in question; and (2) the period "in custody" must have been "in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed." Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a); *State v. Johnson*, 2009 WI 57, ¶ 27, 318 Wis. 2d 21, 767 N.W.2d 207; *State v. Johnson*, 2007 WI 107, ¶ 31, 304 Wis. 2d 318, 735 N.W.2d 505; *State v. Gilbert*, 115 Wis. 2d 371, 376-77, 340 N.W.2d 511 (1983); *State v. Beiersdorf*, 208 Wis. 2d 492, 496, 561 N.W.2d 749 (Ct. App. 1997).

Trepanier bore the burden of proving that he was "in custody," and that his custody was in "connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed," here, the burglary. *State v. Villalobos*, 196 Wis. 2d 141, 148, 537 N.W.2d 139 (Ct. App. 1995) (quoting Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a)).

With respect to the "in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed" requirement, a defendant is not entitled to credit for time spent serving a sentence on an unrelated charge. State v. Amos, 153 Wis. 2d 257, 280, 450 N.W.2d 503 (Ct. App. 1989); State v. Beets, 124 Wis. 2d at 373-74. Further, if a defendant is in custody for two pending charges, once the defendant is sentenced on one charge and begins serving that sentence, the custody is no longer "in connection with" the other pending charge because any connection is severed when the sentence is imposed on the first charge. State v. Beets, 124 Wis. 2d at 379-81. See State v. Gavigan, 122 Wis. 2d 389, 394, 362 N.W.2d 162 (Ct. App. 1984) (when defendant begins serving sentence on one of the charges, he is no longer eligible to be released on the other pending charge, and his custody is no longer "in connection with" that other pending charge). See also State v. Tuescher, 226 Wis. 2d at 470, 472-74.

Moreover, if a defendant is serving consecutive sentences, he is only entitled to credit in a "linear fashion" toward the first sentence imposed, but not toward both sentences. *State v. Boettcher*, 144 Wis. 2d 86, 87, 100, 423 N.W.2d 533 (1988); *State v. Wolfe*, 2001 WI App 66,

¶ 5, 242 Wis. 2d 426, 625 N.W.2d 655. Finally, a defendant is not entitled to sentence credit if he has already received credit for that period of custody. *State v. Boettcher*, 144 Wis. 2d at 87, 100-01; *State v. Jackson*, 2000 WI App 41, ¶¶ 19-20, 233 Wis. 2d 231, 607 N.W.2d 338 ("dual credit" is not permitted where a defendant has already received credit against a sentence which has been, or will be, separately served).

B. Trepanier failed to prove he was entitled to double credit for consecutive terms of custody.

Trepanier's attorney was correct to concede that the trial court had the authority to impose the burglary sentence consecutive to the time served on the six-month civil contempt commitment (32:13). Otherwise, the contempt commitment would be of no practical force and effect. State v. Strohbeen, 147 Wis. 2d 566, 572-73, 433 N.W.2d 288 (Ct. App. 1988); State v. Way, 113 Wis. 2d 82, 87, 334 N.W.2d 918 (Ct. App. 1983). That concession, unfortunately for Trepanier, effectively defeats his appeal. That is because, having already served the 171 days on the contempt commitment, he was not also entitled to credit for those same 171 days against his consecutive burglary sentence. State v. Boettcher, 144 Wis. 2d at 87; State v. Jackson, 233 Wis. 2d 231, ¶¶ 19-20. See State v. Lamar, 2011 WI 50, ¶¶ 28-29, 334 Wis. 2d 536, 799 N.W.2d 758.

Trepanier wisely does not argue that his postcommitment custody for contempt of court was in any way related to ("in connection with") his pretrial custody for the burglary.

Therefore, having already served 171 days in custody for the civil commitment, Trepanier was not entitled to a "windfall" double credit for those same 171 days against an unrelated consecutive sentence imposed for burglary. See State v. Johnson, 318 Wis. 2d 21, ¶ 32

("Neither the statute nor the case law that precedes today's version of Wis. Stat. § 973.155 justifies crediting a defendant's sentence for time spent in presentence custody that is not related to the matter for which sentence is imposed.").

Trepanier insists, however, that he was not serving a "sentence" for the civil commitment and, so, § 973.155 does not apply. The statute's inapplicability, in Trepanier's view, allows for a windfall award of "double credit" against both his custody already served for the contempt commitment and his consecutive custody imposed for the unrelated burglary. That flies in the face of controlling law. The issue is not, after all, whether Trepanier was serving a "sentence" for the civil commitment. It is only whether he was "in custody" for that commitment. He most certainly was. Having already served that time in custody, he was not entitled to credit for service of that time a second time against the unrelated burglary sentence to which § 973.155 plainly applied.

In *State v. Riley*, 175 Wis. 2d 214, 220, 498 N.W.2d 884, 886 (Ct. App. 1993), we rejected the argument that confinement as a condition of probation was not a "sentence" within the meaning of § 973.155, STATS., pointing out that "[s]ection 973.155(1), Stats., uses the terms 'custody' and 'confinement,' not the word 'sentence,' to define the status that entitles a defendant to pre-sentence credit" We are satisfied that the same analysis applies when the confinement results from an NGI commitment.

State v. Harr, 211 Wis. 2d 584, 596, 568 N.W.2d 307 (Ct. App. 1997).

A civil commitment is not a "sentence." *See State v. Way,* 113 Wis. 2d at 86. That does not matter because Trepanier was plainly "in custody" for purposes of § 973.155 when ordered to jail for contempt. Trepanier is deemed to have been "in custody" for purposes of § 973.155 because he could be charged under Wis. Stat. § 946.42 for escaping from that custody. *State v. Magnuson,* 2000 WI 19, ¶¶ 13-15, 233 Wis. 2d 40,

606 N.W.2d 536. "In summary, we conclude that an offender's status constitutes custody for sentence credit purposes when the offender is subject to an escape charge for leaving that status." Id. ¶ 47.

Moreover, because Trepanier was "sentenced" for the burglary, § 973.155 plainly applied in determining whether he was entitled to credit against *that sentence* for the time he had already spent "in custody" on the unrelated contempt commitment. The law is clear that he was not entitled to double credit against the two unrelated and consecutive terms of custody. *State v. Boettcher*, 144 Wis. 2d at 87.²

Therefore, Trepanier was "in custody" for the sixmonth contempt commitment for non-payment of a fine because, had he escaped, he could have been prosecuted under Wis. Stat. § 946.42(2)(a). State v. Smith, 214 Wis. 2d 541, 543-47, 571 N.W.2d 472 (Ct. App. 1997). Because Trepanier would have been "in custody" for the 171 days serving the civil commitment even if the November 11, 2012 burglary had never occurred, "he is not being treated unfairly by not receiving sentence credit for that time" against the time imposed consecutively thereto for the unrelated burglary. State v. Johnson, 304 Wis. 2d 318, ¶ 70.

Trepanier argues at page 16 of his brief that, "Mr. Trepanier was incarcerated for 171 days in jail and that time should be credited somewhere. If it cannot be

² Trepanier hopelessly confuses the issue by arguing that § 973.155 does not apply because he was not serving a "sentence" for the contempt commitment. Trepanier's brief at 10, 13. That may be so, but it is beside the point. Trepanier is seeking credit, after all, against his burglary sentence for the 171 days already served in jail for contempt. The issue whether he gets credit for only ten days, or an additional 171 days, against that burglary sentence plainly implicates § 973.155. Trepanier's argument would only make sense if he was seeking reduction of the time served for contempt. He is not. He is seeking reduction of his burglary sentence based on the time already served for contempt.

credited to the commitment, then it must be credited to the sentence." Those 171 days were obviously "credited" to the commitment because they were actually served in jail by the time the burglary sentence commenced on May 20, 2013. Consequently, the same jail time could not be "credited" a second time against the burglary sentence.

Trepanier has, therefore, failed to prove he is entitled to double credit for 171 days against both his custody already served for the civil contempt commitment and the sentence imposed consecutively thereto for burglary.

CONCLUSION

Therefore, the State of Wisconsin respectfully requests that the judgment of conviction and order denying postconviction relief be AFFIRMED.